**RECEIVED**

**May 02 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Florence County

D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MICHAEL CHRISTIAN BARCLAY,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-000976

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

JOANNA K. DELANY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. In violation of Appellant's right to due process as explained in Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), did the trial judge err by failing to dismiss the criminal charge against Appellant where the state engaged in a pattern of discovery abuses culminating in the destruction of in-camera video footage and body-worn camera footage of the crime scene immediately after the shooting because the evidence was material to Appellant's guilt?
- II. Did the trial judge err by instructing the jury regarding accomplice liability where the evidence presented was Appellant alone fired the fatal shot?
- III. Did the trial court err in refusing to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter where evidence in the record required the instruction, including the solicitor's assertion during the co-defendant's guilty plea that such evidence existed and the judicial finding of a factual basis to support that the shooter acted upon the sudden heat of passion based upon sufficient legal provocation?
- IV. Did the trial judge err by failing to instruct the jury that it may draw an adverse inference against the state where it was undisputed that the state destroyed video footage of the crime scene captured by the first responding officer in this weak circumstantial evidence case?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 4, 2019, a Florence County grand jury indicted Appellant, Jimmy Lee Hampton, Jr., and Demonta Kabora Hickson for murder. R. 568. After several pre-trial hearings, the state, represented by Edgar L. Clements, III, called Petitioner and Hickson to trial before the Honorable D. Craig Brown and a jury on August 23-26, 2021. R. 1. Christie Henderson represented Petitioner, and James Hoffmeyer represented Hickson. R. 1.

Immediately prior to the state resting its case, Hickson entered a guilty plea to voluntary manslaughter. Tr. 470, ll. 23-25. The state recommended a cap of fifteen years imprisonment as the sentence for Hickson. R. 473, ll. 3-6. Judge Brown then sentenced Hickson to fifteen years. R. 490, ll. 5-8.

After requesting to hear the testimony of three witnesses, the jury found Appellant guilty of murder. R. 558, l. 19 – R. 559, l. 2; R. 561-563. The state asked the judge to sentence Appellant to life. Judge Brown did as the state requested and sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. R. 560, ll. 4-6; R. 570.

On August 31, 2021, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

## ARGUMENT

I. In violation of Appellant’s right to due process as explained in *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), the trial judge erred by failing to dismiss the criminal charge against Appellant where the state engaged in a pattern of discovery abuses culminating in the destruction of in-camera video footage and body-worn camera footage of the crime scene immediately after the shooting because the evidence was material to Appellant’s guilt.

### **Standard of review**

“In criminal cases, an appellate court sits to review only errors of law.” *State v. Anderson*, 407 S.C. 278, 285, 754 S.E.2d 905, 908 (Ct. App. 2014). The trial court “abuses its discretion when it commits a legal error in determining whether a Brady violation occurred; [the appellate courts] therefore review the district court’s Brady ruling de novo.” *United States v. Parker*, 790 F.3d 550, 558 (4th Cir. 2015). In conducting its de novo review, the appellate court reviews a trial judge’s factual findings for clear error. Id.

### **Relevant facts**

On March 19, 2021, Appellant’s case was set to be called as the back-up case for trial during the week of May 24, 2021. May 11 R. 5, ll. 4-6. Although defense counsel believed she had all discovery, she met with the solicitor on March 29, 2021, to review the discovery pursuant to the solicitor’s “open file policy.” May 11 R. 5, ll. 7-12. During this meeting, defense counsel determined she was missing various pieces of discovery. May 11 R. 5, ll. 13-18.

After realizing she was missing discovery, on April 12, 2021, defense counsel filed a supplemental motion for discovery. R. 564. On April 22, 2021, the solicitor provided defense counsel with a compact disc containing voluminous discovery materials on it, which dated back to 2018 and 2019. May 11 R. 6, ll. 10-14. On April 30, 2021, defense counsel filed a motion to continue and to reconsider bond as the case had been set as a back-up trial for the week of May 24, 2021, but the supplemental discovery motion had not been answered completely. R. 5.

Defense counsel requested the case be struck from the May 24, 2021, trial list. R. 5. On May 5, 2021, defense counsel received even more information from the state. May 11 R. 6, ll. 21-24.

On May 11-12, 2021, the Honorable D. Craig Brown, heard argument on the two outstanding motions. R. 12 During the hearing, the solicitor expressed surprise because the discovery was “not even 50 pages” unless photographs were counted. May 11 R. 8, ll. 1-5. The solicitor noted that only a “handful” of photographs were ever even introduced during trial. May 11 R. 8, ll. 6-8. According to the solicitor, “[t]he only thing really of any impact that was missing was a bullet.” May 11 R. 8, ll. 14-15.

Although assuring the judge that if defense counsel found something missing in discovery he would “find whatever [was] missing” and “get it,” he later qualified that by stating that the worksheets of the forensic examinations conducted by SLED could be obtained by “anybody.” May 11 R. 8, ll. 9-13; May 11 R. 10, ll. 18-22. He was forced to admit, however, that when defense counsel requested these very documents from SLED, she was informed that all requests had to “go through [the solicitor].” May 11 R. 11, ll. 1-5. He also later admitted that he would not obtain certain evidence for the defense because he “just wasn’t going to do that extra work.” May 11 R. 13, ll. 16-17.

At the conclusion of the hearing on May 12, 2021, in preparation for trial on May 24, 2021, as the solicitor had moved the case from back-up to the “front,” defense counsel asked for assurance that she would not receive any more discovery materials prior to trial. May 11 R. 27, ll. 18-19; May 11 R. 37, ll. 20-24. The solicitor responded, “we’ve looked high and low. We will continue to look high and low.” May 11 R. 37, ll. 1-13.

Shortly before the state intended to call the case to trial, it was revealed that the state had not disclosed the body camera footage from the former lead investigator on the case. In fact,

defense counsel learned of the existence of the body camera footage from *her* investigator on May 18, 2021. May 20 R. 47, ll. 18-24. She contacted the solicitor and current lead investigator on the case who confirmed the existence of the footage. May 20 R. 46, l. 25 – May 20 R. 48, l. 2. At 3:30 p.m., on May 19, 2021, she received six discs containing over three and a half hours of body camera footage from the night and next day surrounding this alleged shooting.” May 20 R. 45, l. 23 – May 20 R. 46, l. 2. The footage was from the camera worn by the former lead investigator, and it showed “his response to the scene,” “numerous witness interviews,” and “an abundance of information.” May 20 R. 46, ll. 3-8. Based on this delay in disclosure, defense counsel requested the case be dismissed. May 20 R. 46, ll. 9-22.

On May 20, 2021, *four* days before Appellant’s trial was set to begin, Judge Brown convened another hearing to discuss delayed disclosures of evidence. R. 42. Defense counsel noted the importance of the footage as it showed the scene immediately after the shooting and included witness interviews. May 20 R. 49, ll. 6-10. Although numerous witnesses appeared on the footage, many were unidentified. May 20 R. 49, ll. 11-15. Further, the footage showed individuals on the scene whose names did not appear on the crime scene log. May 20 R. 49, ll. 16-24; May 20 R. 50, ll. 15-22.

Importantly the footage showed Jimmy Lee Hampton, Sr., a former police officer who was convicted of federal crimes related to drug trafficking, and his family members, one of whom was charged in this shooting, giving statements to a police officer. May 20 R. 51, l. 18 – May 20 R. 52, l. 12. The video showed a chummy relationship between the former police officer and the current officer investigating the case, which corroborated Appellant’s claim that he was being set up by Hampton, Sr. May 20 R. 52, ll. 13-19.

The solicitor claimed that he learned of the body camera footage “the day before yesterday” when he was preparing witnesses at the Timmonsville Police Department. May 20 R. 55, l. 24 – May 20 R. 56, l. 6. Mark Strickland, the former lead investigator on the case, asked if the solicitor wanted the video from his body camera. May 20 R. 56, ll. 6-7. The solicitor claimed he was “flabbergasted.” May 20 R. 56, ll. 8-9. He further claimed that he had asked Strickland numerous times for everything in his file, but the video footage had not been provided. May 20 R. 56, ll. 12-18. Thereafter, the solicitor provided a copy of the video to defense counsel’s investigator. May 20 R. 57, ll. 7-13.

The solicitor volunteered that he had not looked at the video and he believed the judge should suppress it due to the late disclosure. May 20 R. 57, ll. 14-18. Although he claimed to having not looked at the video, the solicitor asserted that the video would not result in a “slam dunk not guilty,” but “[i]t would be reasonable doubt.” May 20 R. 58, ll. 5-10.

Defense counsel argued that the pattern of discovery violations by the solicitor violated Appellant’s fundamental constitutional rights. May 20 R. 55, ll. 8-15. The solicitor opposed the request for dismissal. May 20 R. 59, ll. 1-2. Tellingly, however, the solicitor advised Judge Brown that although he claimed to have an “open file policy,” what he disclosed really “depend[ed] on how [he] g[o]t treated.” May 20 R. 59, ll. 21-22. He also “refer[red] defense counsel] to read Rule 5(b)(2)” regarding disclosure of evidence. May 20 R. 81, ll. 8-12.

Judge Brown denied defense counsel’s request to dismiss the charge. May 20 R. 77, ll. 2-4. Nevertheless, he did grant defense counsel’s motion to continue the case and set the case for a date certain later in the year. May 20 R. 80, l. 1. Prior to trial, defense counsel renewed her motion to dismiss based upon the pattern of discovery abuses by the solicitor. R. 85, ll. 16-18. As a

companion to her motion to dismiss, defense counsel also renewed her motion for discovery. R.

85, ll. 18-21. She explained that she still needed the following evidence from the state:

The Florence County Sheriff's Office Deputy Marlon Mack's in-car camera footage from the scene 8/25 to 8/26, 2018.

South Carolina Highway Patrol Jordan Smith's body-worn camera footage, in-car camera footage, and any reports prepared in conjunction with his response to the scene on August 25<sup>th</sup> and August 26<sup>th</sup>, 2018.

Timmons ville Police Department Officer Christopher Miles' body-worn camera footage and in-car camera footage from the scene August 25<sup>th</sup> to August 26<sup>th</sup>, 2018.

Timmons ville Police Department Officer Mark Strickland's in-car camera footage from the scene August 25<sup>th</sup> to August 26<sup>th</sup>, 2018.

Timmons ville Police Department Chief Billy Brown's body-worn camera footage, in-car camera footage, and any reports prepared from the incident.

And any other in-car camera footage from any law enforcement vehicles present on the scene August 25<sup>th</sup> to August 26<sup>th</sup>, 2018.

R. 86, l. 10 – R. 87, l. 4.

The solicitor clarified that the Miles' body worn camera footage and in-car camera footage were purged, and the other items did not exist to his knowledge. R. 87, ll. 7-10. Miles was the first responding officer. R. 452, ll. 13-20. The trial judge simply noted defense counsel's motion for the record. R. 87, ll. 11-12.

### **Discussion**

In Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 87 (1963), the United States Supreme Court held "that the suppression by the prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused upon request violates due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution." Essentially, the Court held that prosecutors must disclose any evidence in the prosecutor's possession that may be favorable to the accused and material to guilt or

punishment. Id.; See also Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419 (1995); Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 384, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006).

Evidence is favorable to the accused if it is either favorable exculpatory evidence or favorable impeachment evidence. Porter, 368 S.C. at 384, 629 S.E.2d at 356 (citing United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 676 (1985)). Evidence is material if there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different had the evidence been disclosed to the defense. Id. A reasonable probability is one that undermines confidence in the outcome of the trial. Bagley, 473 U.S. at 678. Importantly, the Supreme Court held that “[a]lthough the constitutional duty is triggered by the potential impact of favorable but undisclosed evidence, a showing of materiality does not require demonstration by a preponderance that disclosure of the suppressed evidence would have resulted ultimately in the defendant’s acquittal.” Kyles, 514 U.S. at 434. The “touchstone of materiality is a ‘reasonable probability’ of a different result.” Id. (quoting Bagley, 473 U.S. at 678). “The question is not whether the defendant would more likely than not have received a different verdict with the evidence, but whether in its absence he received a fair trial, understood as a trial resulting in a verdict worthy of confidence.” Id.

A defendant need not request Brady evidence; it is incumbent upon the prosecutor to provide such evidence even without a request. United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 107 (1976); see also Rule 3.8(d), RPC, Rule 407, SCACR.

In Kyles, 514 U.S. at 421, the Supreme Court held the duty “to disclose evidence favorable to the defense turns on the cumulative effect of all such evidence suppressed by the government, and ... the prosecutor remains responsible for gauging that effect regardless of any failure by the police to bring favorable evidence to the prosecutor’s attention.” The Court granted a new trial to a defendant where the prosecutor failed to disclose potential impeachment evidence, including prior inconsistent

statements by eyewitnesses. Id. at 441-445. Additionally, the prosecution suppressed statements by a key witness, whom the defense alleged was the likely killer, wherein the key witness's "various statements would have raised opportunities to attack not only the probative value of crucial physical evidence and the circumstances in which it was found, but the thoroughness and even the good faith of the investigation." Id. at 445.

In Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150, 150 (1972), the defendant was convicted of passing forged money orders. The prosecution relied upon the testimony of the defendant's co-conspirator, who worked at the bank. The co-conspirator provided the only evidence linking the defendant to the crime. Id. at 151. The co-conspirator testified against the defendant and claimed that he had received no promises for his testimony and believed that he may be prosecuted for his involvement. Id. at 151-152. However, the defendant discovered after the trial that a promise – the co-conspirator would not be prosecuted – was made to the co-conspirator by a member of the prosecutor's office, but not the person who prosecuted the defendant. Id. at 152. The Supreme Court made clear the Brady rule extended to include impeachment evidence. The Court stated, "[w]hen the 'reliability of a given witness may well be determinative of guilt or innocence,' nondisclosure of evidence affecting credibility falls within the general rule [of disclosure]." Id. at 154. Based upon the centrality of the co-conspirator's testimony to the defendant's prosecution and conviction, the Court reversed the defendant's conviction. Id. at 155.

In Bagley, 473 U.S. at 670-671, the government's two key witnesses were promised a sum of money for their cooperation. This information was withheld from the defense. Id. The Court made clear again that "[i]mpeachment evidence ... as well as exculpatory evidence falls within the Brady rule." Id. at 676. Impeachment evidence is favorable to the accused because "if disclosed and used effectively, it may make the difference between conviction and acquittal." Id. (citing Napue v.

Illinois, 360 U.S. 264, 269 (1959)). The Court held the possibility of a reward gave the two witnesses “a direct, personal stake” in the defendant’s conviction. Id. at 683.

In Riddle v. State, 369 S.C. 39, 44, 631 S.E.2d 70, 73 (2006), the South Carolina Supreme Court confronted a Brady violation arising during post-conviction relief (PCR) proceedings. Days before Riddle’s trial, a police officer interviewed a key witness in the case who provided a statement inconsistent with his previous statement. The prosecutor failed to disclose this interview to Riddle. The PCR court held the statement was available to Riddle because he could have interviewed the officer who took the statement. Our Supreme Court disagreed, holding “[n]ot only is it unrealistic to require [Riddle] and his attorneys to reinterview all officers and investigators in the days before the trial, but that is not what Brady requires.” As explained by the Court, “[t]he burden is on the solicitor to disclose material evidence which is exculpatory or impeaching.” Id.

The South Carolina Supreme Court recently analyzed whether the state’s failure to disclose the criminal history of one of its witnesses constituted a violation of Brady. State v. Durant, 430 S.C. 98, 107, 844 S.E.2d 49, 53 (2020). The Court explained that “[a] Brady violation occurs when the evidence at issue is: 1) favorable to the accused; 2) in the possession of or known to the prosecution; 3) suppressed by the prosecution; and 4) material to the defendant’s guilt or punishment.” Id. “Importantly, whether the prosecution acted in good or bad faith is irrelevant in determining whether a Brady violation occurred.” Id. at 107, 844 S.E.2d at 54.

The state failed to disclose the criminal history of one of the state’s witnesses. First, the Court held that “failure to provide information that could be obtained through a NCIC search is a Brady violation.” Id. The Court held the state must be responsible for fulfilling its prosecutorial duties, including the duty to disclose under Brady, and requiring the defense to obtain information – even if readily available to the public – was “too slippery a slope.” Id. at 109, 844 S.E.2d at 54-55. “Shifting

the burden to defense counsel lessens the state's duty to disclose exculpatory evidence and has the risk of adding an additional element to Brady.” Id. at 109, 844 S.E.2d at 55. After holding the state was in possession of the witness's criminal background information and failed to disclose it, the Court held the evidence was not material. Id. at 110, 844 S.E.2d at 55. The Court noted the witness's criminal history included several convictions, but it determined most of them would not have been admissible due to their age. Id. Further, the Court held the evidence was not material because there was not a reasonable probability that the result of the proceedings would have been different due to the state presenting cumulative evidence of the defendant's guilt. Id.

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