**RECEIVED**

**May 02 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals**

---

Appeal from Florence County  
The Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

MICHAEL CHRISTIAN BARCLAY,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2021-000976

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENSKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 14244

W. JOSEPH MAYE  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 100851

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

HON. EDGAR L. CLEMENTS, III

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

1999) (emphasis added); See *State v. McCray*, 413 S.C. 76, 96, 773 S.E.2d 914, 924 (Ct. App. 2015); *State v. Geer*, 391 S.C. 179, 192, 705 S.E.2d 441, 448 (Ct. App. 2010); *United States v. Smith Grading & Paving, Inc.*, 760 F.2d 527, 532 (4th Cir.1985). Though late, Appellant received the evidence in question and the court provided a continuance to Appellant ***that afforded him with three additional months*** to review the video footage. Moreover, the record demonstrates that law enforcement officers were prepared to help identify people in the video footage to assist the defense in identifying unknown individuals. The underlying premise of Appellant's argument on appeal is plainly deficient under the law.

Moreover, though Counsel characterized Appellant's discovery disputes as "*Brady* violations" and a "total pattern of what we believe to be violations of the defendant's fundamental constitutional rights by law enforcement", Counsel failed to articulate how her arguments satisfy the necessary *Brady* elements, or why her relied upon case law is supportive of her arguments. (May 20<sup>th</sup> hearing, R., p. 55). This is not a unique failure, as Appellant's various listed cases *on appeal* likewise fail to provide holdings and factual circumstances that would support his arguments.

Ultimately, Appellant's arguments during pretrial hearings amount to lip-service to *Brady*, with no real attempt to satisfy the law. In the absence of Appellant arguing as to how the elements of *Brady* were met to satisfy his motion for dismissal, the trial court likewise did not provide an itemized ruling as to each of the *Brady* elements. However, the trial court did find fault on the part of the State for the delayed disclosure of evidence, and in granting a three month continuance the trial court alleviated any *Brady* concern under the law. The trial court was well within its discretion to handle the issue in such a way and to deny the motion for dismissal.

The third issue is the body-cam and car-cam video footage from Officer Chris Miles. The facts derived by Appellant at trial regarding this evidence not only lack merit warranting reversal, but the clarity of Appellant's intended argument is difficult to discern.

Appellant's claim again appears to be a scattershot effort for relief under *Brady*. However, *Brady v. Maryland* specifically requires suppression of material evidence that is in possession of the State. The record concerning Officer Miles' video footage is severely underdeveloped by Appellant and actual "possession" of the evidence to permit discovery production cannot be shown in the record facts. "The Appellant bears the burden of providing a sufficient record on appeal from which this court can make an intelligent review", but here Appellant has failed to do so. *Matter of Est. of Moore*, 435 S.C. 706, 715, 869 S.E.2d 868, 872–73 (Ct. App. 2022), reh'g denied (Mar. 24, 2022); SCACR 210(h) ([T]he appellate court will not consider any fact which does not appear in the Record on Appeal.); *Crestwood Golf Club, Inc. v. Potter*, 328 S.C. 201, 215, 493 S.E.2d 826, 834 (1997) (an appellant bears the burden of creating a sufficient record to review his assertions of error.) Critically, the record does not indicate *when* the evidence was "kicked out" by the police system; it could have been kicked out by the system upon Officer Miles' return to the station on the night of the crime, a week later, or a year later. The records simply does not provide the information required for Appellant to prove that the State was in possession of the evidence in such a way as to have actually suppressed it from production.

Appellant also fails to provide the court with facts as to how or why the evidence was purged, nor did he attempt to draw out facts that would provide insight into the contents of the video footage and how it might be favorable and material to his case. Appellant's questioning regarding the video footage established four things: 1) Officer Miles was the first to respond to the crime scene, 2) Officer Miles was no longer employed with the Timmons ville Police Department,

3) the evidence was “kicked out” or purged by the police department’s system, and 4) the evidence was not available at trial. (R. p. 86-87; p. 452-453).

Appellant’s argument for “materiality” on appeal is both speculative and contrary to existing law. Appellant acknowledges that he does not know the precise content of the evidence in question, a concession that immediately draws into doubt how Appellant can argue the evidence was favorable and exculpatory under *Brady*. However, while not knowing the content of the evidence, Appellant also argues that the evidence is material because it is likely similar to that of the evidence from Captain Strickland’s body-cam, as he was also at the crime scene that night. (Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 12). Appellant has essentially conceded that the evidence is cumulative to evidence already in his possession prior to trial. The United States Supreme Court and our South Carolina Supreme Court have noted that cumulative evidence will seldom carry the burden of materiality under *Brady*. *Turner v. United States*, 198 L. Ed. 2d 443, 137 S. Ct. 1885, 1894 (2017) (finding that “with respect to the undisclosed impeachment evidence, the record shows that it was largely cumulative of impeachment evidence petitioner already had and used at trial”); *State v. Von Dohlen*, 322 S.C. 234, 241, 471 S.E.2d 689, 694 (1996), overruled on other grounds by *State v. Burdette*, 427 S.C. 490, 832 S.E.2d 575 (2019) (noting that cumulative evidence did not satisfy the reasonably probability of differing result standard under *Brady*); *Bowman v. Stirling*, 45 F.4th 740, 755 (4th Cir. 2022) (citing *Johnson v. Folino*, 705 F.3d 117, 129 (3d Cir. 2013)) (parenthetically noting that suppressed evidence cumulative to other evidence will generally not constitute material evidence under *Brady*). Such an argument is applicable here, and without a more established record it is entirely speculative to suggest the contents of the video footage would be favorable and exculpatory such that there is a reasonable probability of a different result at trial had the evidence been available.

*Notwithstanding the failures of Appellant's arguments under the law of Brady and its progeny, none of Appellant's arguments concerning the alleged content of Officer Miles' video footage or its potential similarity to that of Captain Strickland's video was ever raised to the trial court.* (See generally R., p. 85-87; p. 452-453; p. 492; p. 495-496; p. 508). Nor did Appellant present arguments on how the various *Brady* elements had been met in consideration of the purged evidence. In light of the limited facts presented, and to the extent that Appellant even relied upon *Brady* as his basis for dismissal at trial,<sup>16</sup> the trial court was within its discretion to deny the renewed motion to dismiss.

#### *Analysis of the spoliation of evidence issue*

The issue complained of by Appellant regarding Officer Miles' video footage is about due process rights resulting from unpreserved evidence, not suppression of evidence. Despite Appellant's arguments on appeal, *Brady v. Maryland* is not exactly on point. That is why the trial court analyzed the limited facts presented under *State v. Cheeseboro*, instead. The trial court was considering the issue of whether to give a spoliation charge, however Appellant also had his renewed motion for dismissal as an outstanding matter for the court to consider. Thus, the court's consideration of the *Cheeseboro* elements served a dual purpose of finding neither a due process violation, nor a basis for a spoliation charge, and its respective rulings were not an abuse of discretion thereto.

Under *Cheeseboro*, our Supreme Court articulated that, "[t]he State does not have an absolute duty to preserve potentially useful evidence that might exonerate a defendant." *State v. Cheeseboro*, 346 S.C. 526, 538, 552 S.E.2d 300, 307 (2001) (citing *Arizona v. Youngblood*, 488

---

<sup>16</sup> *Brady v. Maryland* is not mentioned or referenced during the entirety of Appellant's trial. Nor is "materiality" or "suppression" ever mentioned within the context of a *Brady* argument.

U.S. 51, 109 S.Ct. 333, 102 L.Ed.2d 281 (1988). The Court went on to prescribe that due process is not violated unless the defendant can demonstrate either 1) the State destroyed the evidence in bad faith, or 2) “that the evidence possessed an exculpatory value apparent before the evidence was destroyed and the defendant cannot obtain other evidence of comparable value by other means.” *Id.*, (citing *State v. Mabe*, 306 S.C. 355, 412 S.E.2d 386 (1991)).

The trial court articulated the holding of *Cheeseboro* precisely. (R. p. 495-496). The court’s recitation of the law clearly demonstrated that *Cheeseboro* is applied toward determining whether a destruction of evidence issue rises to the level of a due process violation. Following its recitation of the law, the trial court then concluded that based on the facts presented, there was no evidence to support a bad faith action on the part of the State, nor was the evidence in question known to carry an exculpatory value prior to its destruction. The trial court noted that neither element under *Cheeseboro* had been satisfied, that Appellant had failed to demonstrate a basis for why a spoliation charge would be warranted in his case, and later maintained its rulings regarding the denial of dismissal. (R. p. 496; p. 508). The trial court’s rulings were not an abuse of discretion.

Consideration of due process under *Cheeseboro* is often accompanied by a request for a spoliation charge by the defense. (See *State v. Breeze*, 379 S.C. 538, 545, 665 S.E.2d 247, 251 (Ct. App. 2008); *State v. McBride*, 416 S.C. 379, 786 S.E.2d 435 (Ct. App. 2016). In consideration of whether to give a spoliation charge to the jury, the trial court was again within its discretion to deny the request. There is no precedent establishing such a charge in criminal cases. By Appellant’s own admission, the propriety of a spoliation charge for permitting an adverse inference from unavailable evidence in a criminal trial has been consistently deemed improper by South Carolina courts. (See Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 47-48).

This Court's opinion in *State v. McBride* is most instructive. Therein, this Court addressed a due process claim for the destruction of evidence by the State, in tandem with a request for an adverse inference charge to the jury. *Id.* In addressing those claims, this Court first noted that the trial court found that the defendant had not satisfied the *Cheeseboro* elements of either bad-faith destruction, or exculpatory evidence not otherwise obtainable through comparably valuable evidence. As such, no due process violation occurred. *Id.*, at 439. The opinion then pivoted to the question of the court's denial of an adverse inference charge. This Court found no error in the denial of the charge, noting the well-established principles that "a trial court is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina" and that the refusal of a requested charge "be both erroneous and prejudicial" to warrant reversal. *Id.*, (quoting *State v. Burkhart*, 350 S.C. 252, 261, 565 S.E.2d 298, 302–03 (2002)). This Court then provided a synopsis of the prior cases concerning the issue, noting that 1) spoliation charges have been limited to civil cases, 2) adverse inference charges of any kind are rarely permissible in criminal cases, 3) the grave doubt as to the propriety of such charges in criminal cases, and 4) that only the most unusual circumstances would ever warrant such a charge. *Id.* (citing *State v. Breeze*, 379 S.C. 538, 545, 665 S.E.2d 247, 251 (Ct. App. 2008); *State v. Batson*, 261 S.C. 128, 138, 198 S.E.2d 517, 522 (1973)). Even in *State v. Reaves*, where such a charge was given by the trial court, the Supreme Court set forth by footnote the fact that spoliation charges have been limited to civil cases in South Carolina. 414 S.C. 118, 128, n.5, 777 S.E.2d 213, 218 n.5 (2015).

An abuse of discretion requires either an error of law or a clear error of fact by the trial court, and Appellant can present neither. A trial court is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina. *Brandt*, 713 S.E.2d at 603. No South Carolina law directs the provision of a spoliation of evidence charge, and the facts within the record before the trial court

were woefully insufficient to demonstrate that the State acted in bad faith or that the evidence was somehow exculpatory. The record cannot even demonstrate whether the purged evidence was an actual decision by the Timmonsville Police Department, a simple neglectful oversight, or an unavoidable system error. All that is made known is that “the system” kicked out or purged the evidence in question. Likewise, Appellant offered no facts or arguments that would support a finding that the video evidence had exculpatory value, and as argued above, any usefulness to the video evidence is likely cumulative to that already obtained through Captain Strickland’s body-cam footage. The facts fail to support any portion of *Cheeseboro*, and Appellant has offered no sound argument to the contrary on appeal. There was no abuse of discretion by the trial court in finding *Cheeseboro* unmet, in subsequently denying the spoliation charge, and in denying the renewed motion for dismissal.

- II. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in instructing the jury on the law of accomplice liability, as the testimony and forensics irrefutably demonstrated that multiple guns were fired during the crime, multiple assailants were utilizing those firearms, and the assailants arrived in unison in retaliation for Boogie’s drive-by shooting of their family member’s home.**

### **Summary of Argument**

The matter is ultimately not preserved for review because Appellant’s arguments on appeal differ substantially from those presented to the trial court. To the extent the issue can be deemed preserved and available for appellate review, there is overwhelming evidence supporting the charge of accomplice liability in this matter given the forensic and testimonial evidence offered at trial. The trial court’s decision to instruct the jury on the hand of one is the hand of all was entirely proper and Appellant cannot demonstrate an abuse of discretion in this case. Moreover, this case demonstrates the impropriety and peril of marginalizing accomplice liability to that of an

alternative theory of liability. Clarification of the law is necessary to reestablish the fundamental purpose and tenets of accomplice liability law.

### **Standard of Review**

“An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge's decision regarding jury charges absent an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Brandt*, 393 S.C. 526, 550, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011). A trial court's decision regarding jury charges will not be reversed where the charges, as a whole, properly charged the law to be applied. *State v. Wharton*, 381 S.C. 209, 213, 672 S.E.2d 786, 788 (2009). “[T]he trial court is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina.” *Brandt*, 713 S.E.2d at 603. “In reviewing jury charges for error, [an appellate court] must consider the court's jury charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial.” *Id.* “A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law.” *Id.* “A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal.” *Id.*, (citing *State v. Foust*, 325 S.C. 12, 479 S.E.2d 50 (1996)). “The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial.” *Brandt*, at 549, 713 S.E.2d at 603 (2011) (citing *State v. Knoten*, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001)). “If there is any evidence to support a charge, the trial court should grant the request.” *Id.* (citing *State v. Williams*, 367 S.C. 192, 195, 624 S.E.2d 443, 445 (Ct. App. 2005)).

#### ***a. Appellant presents an argument unpreserved for appellate review.***

Appellant's argument challenging the propriety of the accomplice liability charge is not preserved for appellate review. “In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal. A party need not use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve it, but it must be clear that the argument has been presented on that ground. A

party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal.” *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693–94 (2003) (internal citations omitted).

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